IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 95,103

ROBERT B. WATERHOUSE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR PINELLAS COUNTY,
STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JACK CROOKS Florida Bar No. 155231

ERIC PINKARD Florida Bar No. 0651443

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE 3801 Corporex Park Drive Suite 210 Tampa, FL 33619 (813) 740-3544 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Circuit Court of the Sixth Judicial Circuit, Pinellas County, entered the judgments of conviction and sentence under consideration. Mr. Waterhouse was charged by indictment dated January 31, 1980 with first degree murder (R. 16,17). He pled not guilty and was tried by a jury on August 25-31, 1980. The jury rendered a verdict of guilty (R. 389). After a penalty phase held on September 3, 1980, the jury by a vote of 12-0 recommended death (R. 390).

The trial court accepted the recommendation of the Jury and sentenced Mr. Waterhouse to death (R. 2305). Thereafter, on September 15, 1980, the trial court entered written findings of fact in support of the sentence (R. 408, 409). On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Waterhouse's conviction and sentence. Waterhouse v. State, 429 So.2d 301 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 977, 104 S. Ct. 415, 78 L. Ed. 2d 352 (1983).

Mr. Waterhouse subsequently filed a motion to vacate judgments of conviction and sentence with the lower court, and a writ of habeas corpus with the Florida Supreme Court. The lower court denied Mr. Waterhouse's motion to vacate. The Florida Supreme combined the appeal from the denial of the motion to vacate and the writ of habeas corpus. The Florida Supreme Court addressed the ineffective counsel issues as to the guilt phase,

but held issues relating to penalty phase as moot since it granted habeas corpus relief and ordered a new sentencing.

Waterhouse v. State, 522 So.2d 341 (Fla. 1988).

The re-sentencing proceedings were begun on March 19, 1990 (RS. 188). On March 21, 1990 the jury voted 12-0 and returned an advisory sentence of death (RS. 856). The judge followed the recommendation of the jury and imposed a death sentence on April 11, 1990 (RS. 870-71).

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Waterhouse's sentence. Waterhouse v. State, 596 So.2d 1008 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 113 S. Ct. 418 (1992).

By his motion for Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 postconviction relief filed on November 1, 1994, Mr. Waterhouse asserted that his conviction and sentence of death were obtained in violation of the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution.

The postconviction motion was subsequently denied without an evidentiary hearing on any issues by the Honorable Judge Beach on January 22, 1998. A motion for rehearing was filed on February 2, 1998, and it was denied on February 9, 1999. This is an appeal from the summary denial of that motion for the reasons set forth below.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- assistance of counsel, and equal protection under the law by the following failures of both the lower court and counsel. The lower court failed to provide an evidentiary hearing, and counsel failed to investigate and prepare the case, failed to make the closing argument, failed to rebut aggravating factors, failed to object to the use of incriminating statements made by Mr. Waterhouse, failed to object to improper and prejudicial comments by the prosecutor, failed to impeach a key state witness, failed to move to recuse the trial judge, failed to argue mitigation that was established, failed to object to the prosecutor making false statements to the jury, failed to object to comment about Mr. Waterhouse's right to remain silent and failed to object to comments which diminished the jury's sense of responsibility.
- 2. The trial judge was prejudiced against Mr. Waterhouse and predisposed to sentence him to death.
- 3. Mr. Waterhouse was denied a competent and appropriate mental health evaluation and an individualized sentencing.
- 4. Mr. Waterhouse's jury was given instructions which shifted the burden to Mr. Waterhouse to prove that death was not the proper sentence, and the judge used the same improper standard to sentence him to death.
 - 5. Mr. Waterhouse's penalty phase proceedings were replete

with procedural and substantive errors which when considered as a whole deprived him of a fair and impartial resentencing.

- 6. The capital sentencing statute of Florida is unconstitutional on its face and as applied since it fails to prevent the arbitrary and capricious imposition of the death penalty and violates cruel and unusual punishment prohibitions.
- 7. The jury and the judge at Mr. Waterhouse's resentencing improperly considered non-statutory aggravating factors.
- 8. At Mr. Waterhouse's re-sentencing the prosecutor erroneously stated that sympathy was an improper consideration in determining the proper sentence.
- 9. Mr. Waterhouse's jury was given jury instructions which unconstitutionally diluted their sense of responsibility for sentencing.
- 10. During Mr. Waterhouse's penalty phase, the jury was mislead and incorrectly informed about it's function at capital sentencing.
- 11. The Florida statutes used in Mr. Waterhouse's resentencing regarding aggravating factors is facially vague, overbroad, and does not provide for adequate narrowing instructions to the jury.
- 12. Mr. Waterhouse's sentence rests upon an unconstitutional automatic aggravating circumstance.

ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING MR.
WATERHOUSE'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIMS
AT PENALTY PHASE WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

Mr. Waterhouse was deprived of his right to a reliable individual sentencing proceeding, and denied the effective assistance of counsel during his re-sentencing trial, in violation of his rights to due process and equal protection under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as his rights under the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution.¹

In its order, the lower court denied these claims without granting an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Waterhouse asserts that the lower court erred in failing to grant an evidentiary hearing and in summarily denying the following ineffective assistance of counsel claims alleged in the 3.850 motion:

A. FAILURE TO INVESTIGATE AND PREPARE THE CASE

Counsel's highest duty is the duty to investigate and prepare. Where, as here, counsel unreasonably fails to investigate and prepare, the defendant is denied a fair adversarial testing process and the results are rendered unreliable. See, e.g., Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 384-88 (1986) (failure to request discovery based on mistaken

^{&#}x27;This argument was raised in Claim III of Mr. Waterhouse's motion to vacate.

belief state obliged to hand over evidence); Henderson v.
Sargent, 926 F.2d 706 (8th Cir. 1991)(failure to conduct pretrial investigation was deficient performance); Chambers v.
Armontrout, 907 F.2d 825 (8th Cir. 1990)(en banc) (failure to interview potential self-defense witness was ineffective assistance); Nixon v. Newsome, 888 F.2d 112 (11th Cir. 1989)(failure to have obtained transcript witness's testimony at co-defendant's trial was ineffective assistance); Code v.
Montgomery, 799 F.2d 1481, 1483 (11th Cir. 1986) (failure to interview potential alibi witnesses).

"In a capital case the attorney's duty to investigate all possible lines of defense is strictly observed." Coleman v.

Brown, 802 F.2d 1227 (11th Cir. 1986). Mr. Waterhouse's courtappointed counsel failed in this duty. No tactical motive can be ascribed to an attorney whose omissions are based on the failure to properly investigate and prepare. See Kimmelman v.

Morrison, Chambers v. Armontrout, Nixon v. Newsome. Mr.

Waterhouse's capital conviction and sentence of death are the resulting prejudice. But for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability of a different outcome.

Even if counsel provides effective assistance at trial in some areas, the defendant is entitled to relief if counsel renders ineffective assistance in his or her performance in other portions of the trial. Washington v. Watkins, 655 F.2d

1346, 1355, rehearing denied with opinion, 662 F.2d 1116 (5th Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 949 (1982). See also

Kimmelman v. Morrison, 106 S. Ct. 2574 (1986). Even a single error by counsel may be sufficient to warrant relief. Nelson v.

Estelle, 626 F.2d 903, 906 (5th Cir. 1981)(counsel may be held to be ineffective due to single error where the basis of the error is of constitutional dimension); Nero v. Blackburn, 597

F.2d at 994("sometimes a single error is so substantial that it alone causes the attorney's assistance to fall below the Sixth Amendment standard"); Strickland v. Washington; Kimmelman v.

Morrison.

The Eighth Amendment recognizes the need for increased scrutiny in the review of capital verdicts and sentences. Beck v. Alabama, 477 U.S. 625 (1980). The United States Supreme Court noted, in the context of ineffective assistance of counsel, that the correct focus is on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding:

A number of practical considerations are important for the application of the standards we have outlined. Most important, in adjudicating a claim of actual ineffectiveness of counsel, a court should keep in mind that the principles we have stated do not establish mechanical rules. Although those principles should guide the process of decision, the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. In every case the court should be concerned with whether, despite the strong presumption of reliability, the result of the particular proceeding is unreliable because of a breakdown in the adversarial process that our system counts on to produce just results.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 696 (1984) (emphasis added). The evidence presented in this claim demonstrates that the result of Mr. Waterhouse's trial is unreliable.

A proper review of this ineffective assistance of counsel claim would necessarily require an evidentiary hearing to determine the reasons that counsel failed to call witnesses and completely investigate the case. The failure to conduct an evidentiary hearing was error by the lower court.

In its order denying relief, the lower court held:

Defendants allegations that defense counsel failed to adequately investigate this case prior to the trials is not supported by any factual allegations in the motion and should be denied. Further, this matter should have been raised in the initial stages of the trial and appeal and therefore is procedurally barred.

(PC-R. 1163).

Each of the lower court's findings is erroneous. First, with regard to the lack of factual allegations, the trial record itself is manifest with indications of ineffectiveness.

As Mr. Hoffman, Mr. Waterhouse's trial attorney stated:

... And he refused to put on anything in mitigation. Therefore, I don't know of ... I don't have anything in mitigation to talk about.

(PC-R. 927)(emphasis added). This statement clearly shows that Mr. Waterhouse's attorney had not completed his investigation.

Further, the record does not support the lower court's finding that the allegations in the 3.850 Motion to Vacate are

not supported by any factual allegations in the motion. The motion makes allegations concerning failure of defense counsel to investigate and prepare (PC-R. 923). A postconviction movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless the motion and the record conclusively show that he is entitled to no relief. A movant's allegations must be accepted as true except to the extent that they are conclusively rebutted by the record. (see Valle v. State, 705 So.2d 1331 (Fla. 1997); LeCroy v. Dugger, 727 So.2d 236 (Fla. 1998); Meeks v. State, 382 So.2d 672 (Fla. 1980); Gaskin v. State, 737 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1999).

Mr. Waterhouse's allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel are not conclusively rebutted by the record. On the contrary, the record supports Mr. Waterhouse's claims and reveal the necessity for an evidentiary hearing on the issue. The relevant portions of the record pertaining to the failure of defense counsel to investigate and prepare are as follows:

(a) Motion to Withdraw Hearing (R. 199).

Mr. Waterhouse: He has an investigator working with him who I gave Mr. Hoffman names of witnesses that are relevant to this case that I would like to have called. The man says he can't find them. I don't believe this.

Mr. Crow: That's why I would like the names.

The Court: Has he given you any names?

Mr. Hoffman: We've got people we have been trying to find. My investigator hasn't found anybody relevant. I think the case for whimsical doubt can be made without some of the people we can't find. I don't think there

is a problem.

The Court: If you can't find them, you just can't.

Mr. Crow: I don't know.....

Mr. Waterhouse: The State has them under their subpoena.

Mr. Crow: Judge, I don't know whom he is talking about.

The Court: Is that true?

Mr. Crow: I'm not sure judge. If that a witness I'm thinking about, he resides outside the State and is physically unable to travel and I assume his testimony is preserved in the record in some fashion. Did he use to be your employer?

Mr. Crow: I think we probably know where he is, if that's who you are looking for.

Mr. Hoffman: That's a pure guilt issue.

Mr. Waterhouse: His brother David. If Robert VanBuren can be found, he knows where his brother is.

Mr. Crow: We could provide whatever information we have to Mr. Hoffman.

The Court: Do that.

(b) Trial Testimony:

Mr. Waterhouse: We seem to be at odds.

(R. 804).

Mr. Waterhouse: I have not had a chance to sit down and explain to him the things that I want to put forth in mitigation at the closing. He's only been up there once and we never discussed....
(R. 808).

Mr. Waterhouse: Mr. Hoffman has chosen to sell me out. As to what I feel about his representation, he's done little.

(R. 810).

Mr. Waterhouse: Because of the time I've been having with my attorney over here, the man claims he can't find...he's had these witnesses names for months and he claims he can't find them. It goes beyond me why he can't. There were numerous people- David VanBuren himself was cut and rode in my car, cut on the leg. There was Randy Winstead, who was a friend of mine, we were returning from an after hours club one time in Tampa and he got in a fight in a dirt parking lot, cut up all over the place, bleeding pretty good in a couple of other places and, obviously, blood in the car, on the car.

(R. 832).

Mr. Waterhouse: My attorney would rather sell me out to the State, say's he can't find him. He can't go out there and find them. I also gave Mr. Hoffman the name of another, I only know her by her first name, claims he can't find her. She also, was in my car.

(R. 833).

Mr. Waterhouse: Again, because of my incompetent counsel back here, another witness was not called. And that was another man that worked with me, that he would provide me with an alibi that I was not at the ABC Bar at the time Debbie Kammeren left. There was another witness to corroborate this; he wasn't called either.

(R. 839).

The above cited portions of the record establish that Mr. Waterhouse specifically complained about counsel's failure to locate and call witnesses on his behalf.² He lists Robert and

²Counsel recognizes that the citations to the record referred to in this argument were not included in the 3.850 motion as (continued...)

David VanBuren and Randy Winstead by name and outlines their testimony for the court. He further describes a female witness who was in his car and a male witness that would provide him with an alibi. It is important to note that these witnesses are not "pure guilt" witnesses as Mr. Hoffman referred to them in the motion to withdraw. These witnesses could have been called to rebut the HAC aggravating factor. One of the State's theories to establish HAC was that the victim in the case was brutally beaten in Mr. Waterhouse's car. (R. 580-85). The State attempted to bolster that theory with expert testimony concerning blood evidence found in Mr. Waterhouse's car. Witnesses that someone else other that the victim was a source of that blood would be immensely valuable in rebutting that aggravating factor. rebuttal was particularly important because two of the aggravating circumstances in this case, that the murder was committed to eliminate her as a witness, and that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner, were

²(...continued)
required by the F.R.Crim P. However, the lower court's order
reflects that the judge had read the entire record, and was
therefore aware of the facts pertaining to the claim. For
instance, in the first paragraph of the court's order, he states:
. . . and the court having considered the record . . . , Also,
regarding Claim III of the Defendant's 3.850 motion, the court
specifically cited excerpts from transcripts as well as attaching
excerpts from the record to support the denial. It is our
understanding that during the period of time that this motion was
prepared, CCRC was understaffed and underfunded. In the interest
of justice, counsel moves this Court to consider this portion of
the record in evaluating this argument.

found to be insufficient by this Court due to lack of evidence. It was therefore critically important for counsel to use all witnesses at his disposal to attack the remaining aggravating factors.

Also the lower court's finding that this claim should have been raised in the initial stages of trial and appeal is contrary to Florida law. It is not possible for an ineffective assistance of counsel claim to be raised during a trial. Furthermore, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are generally not reviewable on direct appeal, but are properly raised in a motion for postconviction relief. (see Kelly v. State, 486 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1994); Healy v.State, 556 So.2d 488 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); Cumper v. State, 506 So.2d 89 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1987); Loren v. State, 601 So.2d 271 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Since ineffective assistance of counsel claims are generally not reviewable on direct appeal, the claim is not procedurally barred for postconviction review. Mr. Waterhouse is entitled to a hearing on the issues raised.

B. FAILURE TO MAKE A CLOSING ARGUMENT

At Mr. Waterhouse's re-sentencing trial, the judge was under the impression that he had to permit Mr. Waterhouse to take part in his own closing argument:

THE COURT: Well, I've already made for the record a statement that I think that he would harm himself by doing that [making closing argument] and he now has effective counsel. I think I would create more error

by saying that he can get up and intentionally harm himself by making an inadequate closing argument when he has effective assistance of counsel...I don't mind. By the time this case gets back, I'll be retired. So, we'll let him testify. We'll let him make his statement. He can say anything he wants. I won't be here.

 $(RS. 747).^3$

Yet, Mr. Hoffman did not participate in making the closing argument as he should have to assist Mr. Waterhouse. Counsel's failure was ineffectiveness. In <u>Waterhouse v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 1008, 1017 (Fla. 1992), Justice Kogan made precisely this point in his dissenting opinion on the direct appeal:

In my five years on this Court, I have read countless records in which defense counsel had far less to argue than did Hoffman, yet counsel still developed a moving and legally sound closing statement. In many instances, such attorneys have persuaded more than a few jurors to vote for a recommendation of life. I see no reason why Hoffman could not have done the same when his client asked him in open court to make the closing argument. For example, Hoffman could have argued against the existence of all or some of the aggravating factors, two of which this Court today finds

³However trying a case may become, a duty rests "[u]pon the trial judge . . . [to] see[] that the trial is conducted with solicitude for the essential rights of the accused." Glasser v. <u>United States</u>, 315 U.S. 60, 71, 62 S. Ct. 457, 86 L. Ed. 680 (1942). In determining whether counsel should be provided to the accused, "a judge must investigate as long and as thoroughly as the circumstances of the case before him demand." State v. Chavis, 31 Wash. App. 784, 644 P.2d 1202, 1205 (1982) (emphasis in original) (quoting Von Moltke v. Gillies, 332 U.S. 708, 723-24, 68 S. Ct. 316, 92 L. Ed. 309 (1948)). It must be said that the trial court in this case took a slightly cavalier approach to the issue of Mr. Waterhouse's counsel. Judge Beach twice repeated that whether the case got reversed was of little concern to him, since he would have retired, and would not have to retry the case. (See, e.g., Tr. 747, 804). Actually Judge Beach was prejudiced against Mr. Waterhouse (See Claim V).

inappropriate. The failure even to notice the inapplicability of these two aggravating factors, much less arque against them to judge and jury, reveals Hoffman's claims in court as an unacceptable excuse.

<u>Waterhouse v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 1008, 1020 (Fla. 1992)(emphasis added).

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