IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT BRIAN WATERHOUSE,

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. SC95103

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA

Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0445071
Westwood center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

As in <u>Koon</u> this is not a case where counsel simply latched onto the defendant's decision to not present mitigating evidence. The mitigating evidence had been investigated, accumulated and presented to this Court in support of Waterhouse's <u>Hitchcock</u>² claim. <u>Waterhouse v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 341, 344 (Fla.

[&]quot;. . .Although we later vacated Waterhouse's death sentence in order to allow him to present nonstatutory mitigating evidence, Waterhouse refused to allow the presentation of mitigation evidence at resentencing. Thus, this case stands in the same posture as it stood on direct appeal when the death sentence was upheld." Waterhouse v. State, 596 So.2d 1008, 1020, n.6 (Fla. 1992)

²<u>Hitchcock v. Dugger</u>, 481 U.S. 393 (1987).

1987)(granting habeas relief based on failure to instruct upon, and allow jury to consider, evidence of nonstatutory mitigating circumstances.) Having been given the opportunity by this Court to have the jury consider such evidence, Waterhouse refused to allow counsel to present it. As the failure to argue mitigating evidence rests totally on the shoulders of Waterhouse, he should not now be afforded the same relief this Court gave him in 1987.

I. <u>Failure to Object to the State's Comment that the Previous Jury</u> <u>Did Not Know About the New York Murder</u>

The underlying basis of this claim is an issue that could have been and should have been raised on appeal. As such it is procedurally barred. Waterhouse is again attempting to circumvent the procedural bar rule by couching the claim in terms of ineffectiveness. This claim should be denied as barred.

Furthermore, it does not support a finding of deficient performance or prejudice. The prosecution's statement that the guilt phase jury had not heard evidence concerning Ella Carter's murder was a truthful and innocuous acknowledgment that evidence in addition to and different from the evidence necessary to prove guilt was admitted in the penalty phase. This evidence was not admitted in the guilt phase of Waterhouse's trial and was not part of the evidence which resulted in his conviction of the murder. The suggestion that this comment was somehow erroneous or that it may have prejudiced appellant is clearly unsupported.

J. Failure to Object to State's Comment Regarding the Lack of

Evidence that Waterhouse Was Beaten with a Tire Iron in His Own Car

Waterhouse is again attempting to circumvent the procedural bar rule by couching the instant claim in terms of ineffectiveness where the underlying basis of this claim was raised and rejected on appeal.³ As such it is procedurally barred.

Moreover, even if this claim was not barred, this Court has already determined that "[t]he complained-of remark is not fairly susceptible of being interpreted as a comment on silence." Waterhouse, 596 So.2d 1017. Accordingly, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to object to the comment.

K. <u>Failure to Object to Comments That Allegedly Diminished Jury's</u> Sense of Responsibility

Waterhouse is again attempting to circumvent the procedural bar rule by couching the instant claim in terms of ineffectiveness where the underlying basis of this claim was raised and rejected on appeal. Waterhouse v. State, 596 So.2d 1008, 1017 (Fla. 1992). As such it is procedurally barred.

Moreover, even if this claim was not barred, counsel cannot be

³ This Court held:

[&]quot;Waterhouse claims that the prosecutor improperly commented on his failure to take the stand during the sentencing hearing. The complained-of remark is not fairly susceptible of being interpreted as a comment on silence. Even if it could be so interpreted, defense counsel failed to object to the comment and thus the issue is waived. Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331, 333 (Fla.1978), receded from on other grounds, State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla.1986)."

deemed ineffective for failing to object to the comment where appellant has failed to establish that the comment was erroneous.

Teffeteller v. Dugger, 1999 WL 106810, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S110,
(Fla. 1999)(rejecting ineffective assistance claim based on alleged Caldwell violation.)

ISSUE II

WHETHER WATERHOUSE WAS DENIED A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIBUNAL WHERE HE ALLEGES THAT THE TRIAL JUDGE, THE HONORABLE JUDGE BEACH WAS PREJUDICED AGAINST HIM PRIOR TO, DURING AND AFTER WATERHOUSE'S RESENTENCING PROCEEDINGS.

Waterhouse next contends that he was denied a fair proceeding in front of Judge Beach on the basis of statements the judge made to the parole commission in 1981. This claim was also raised in Issue I as a facet of Waterhouse's ineffective assistance of counsel claim. As previously noted, the trial court rejected this claim as follows:

CLAIM V

THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED A FAIR SENTENCING TRIAL BECAUSE THE TRIAL JUDGE WAS PREJUDICED AGAINST THE DEFENDANT.

At no time does the record reflect that defense counsel, including present counsel, motioned the trial judge to recuse himself for bias and prejudice before this present motion was filed although the information which is the basis of this complaint was a matter of record for sixteen years and assumedly known by all defense counsel. Further, there are no allegations in the complaint to suggest the trial court conducted any of the motion hearing or trials in a biased or prejudicial manner toward the defendant. In fact, the Florida Supreme Court made this observation about trial judge in Waterhouse v. State, 596 So.2d 1008, 1014.

Clearly, the trial court, the prosecutor, and his own attorney bent over backwards in trying to give Waterhouse the benefit of every legal right to which he was entitled.

Therefore, it is the finding of this court

that defendant's Claim V is without merit and should be denied as a matter of law.

(PCR7: 1166)

As an issue that could have been and should have been raised on direct appeal, it is procedurally barred. Claim that trial court erred in denying defendant's motion to recuse judge in capital murder prosecution was procedurally barred in postconviction proceedings where it was not raised at trial or on appeal. See, Blanco v. State, 702 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 1997) and Stano v. State, 520 So.2d 278 (Fla. 1988)(holding that recusal issue should have been raised on appeal and is procedurally barred in 3.850 proceedings.)

ISSUE III

WHETHER WATERHOUSE WAS PREJUDICED BY THE FAILURE TO OBTAIN A MENTAL HEALTH PROFESSIONAL TO CONDUCT AN EVALUATION.

This claim was rejected by the court below as follows:

CLAIM XVII

THE FAILURE OF DEFENSE COUNSEL TO HAVE DEFENDANT EXAMINED BY A MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT WAS ERROR.

The record demonstrates that the Defendant's attorney attempted to have the Defendant assessed by a retained expert for penalty phase purposes which was refused by the Defendant.

Therefore, it is the finding of this Court that Defendant's Claim XVII is without merit and should be denied as a matter of law.

(PCR7:1170)

Incredibly Waterhouse argues that he was denied a mental health evaluation when the record shows that he refused counsel's attempt to have him evaluated. Although the portions of the record quoted in this Court's prior opinion make it clear that this was Waterhouse's desire, any question is eliminated by his address to the jury:

Mr. Hoffman could have presented at least a half a dozens (sic) factors in mitigation, but I wouldn't let him do that because I don't feel that he should be up here begging you. I shouldn't be up here begging you for my life.

It goes against my moral principals and furthermore, spares my family the embarrassment, the trauma. (SR812)

The record shows that when Hoffman attempted to have

Waterhouse assessed by a retained expert for penalty phase purposes, Waterhouse refused to cooperate and frustrated his efforts. Clearly, there was no inadequacy on Mr. Hoffman's part. The defendant's own contumacious behavior, his attempts to manipulate the judicial system and his exercise of his right not to present mitigating evidence were the sole reasons that psychological mitigation was not developed and presented. This is simply another example of Waterhouse's continued effort to capitalize on his own efforts to delay justice in this case. The trial court properly denied the claim.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT GAVE IMPROPER JURY INSTRUCTIONS.

As the lower court found, this issue has already been presented to this Court on direct appeal and rejected. <u>Waterhouse</u> <u>v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 1008. (PCR7:1166) Accordingly, it is procedurally barred.

Moreover, it is without merit. <u>Harich v. Dugger</u>, 844 F.2d 1464 (11th Cir. 1988); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 637 (Fla. 1995); <u>Combs v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 853 (Fla.1988); <u>Grossman v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla.1988), <u>cert. denied</u>, 489 U.S. 1071 (1989).

ISSUE V

WHETHER WATERHOUSE'S TRIAL WAS REPLETE WITH ERROR WHICH CANNOT BE HELD HARMLESS WHEN VIEWED AS A WHOLE.

As no facts or specific claims of error were or are offered in support of Waterhouse's claim that a combination of alleged errors rendered his trial fundamentally unfair, summary denial of this point was proper. <u>Engle v. Dugger</u>, 576 So.2d 696 at 700, 702 (Fla. 1991); <u>Gorham v. State</u>, 521 So.2d 1067 at 1070 (Fla. 1988).

Moreover, to the extent that Waterhouse is contesting errors that occurred during his guilt phase, those claims are barred.

Moreover, the claim as presented is not an independent claim, but is contingent upon the appellant demonstrating error in at least two of the other claims presented. For the reasons previously discussed, he has not done so in the instant brief. This Court has also rejected this claim in similar cases. Melendez v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S350 (Fla. 1998); Johnson v. Singletary, 695 So.2d 263 (Fla. 1996)(where claims were either meritless or procedurally barred there was no cumulative effect to consider.)

Accordingly, although this may be a legitimate claim on the facts of a particular case, such facts are not present herein. Thus, because none of the allegations demonstrate any error, individually or collectively, no relief is warranted and this claim should be rejected.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER FLORIDA'S SENTENCING STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE AND AS APPLIED.

As the trial court found, this is a matter that should have been raised on direct appeal which was not done in this case. Having failed to do so Waterhouse is procedurally barred from consideration of this claim. (PCR7: 1169)

This Court has repeatedly rejected challenges to be procedurally barred because they have not been properly preserved for appeal and, even if preserved, they have been rejected on the merits. <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 244, 253 (Fla. 1995); <u>Fotopoulos v. State</u>, 608 So.2d 784, 794 n. 7 (Fla. 1992). This claim was properly denied.

Finally, although this argument is also procedurally barred, it should be noted that Waterhouse's claim with regard to death by electrocution has been rendered moot by the legislature's approval of the use of lethal injection.

ISSUE VII

WHETHER WATERHOUSE'S RIGHTS WERE DENIED BY THE JUDGE AND JURY'S CONSIDERATION OF NON-STATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

This is a matter that should have been raised on direct appeal which was not done in this case. Having failed to do so Waterhouse is procedurally barred from consideration of this claim.

(PCR7:1167)

Even if this claim was not barred it is without merit. Consideration of the passage referred to in the instant brief merely reflects that the state was arguing the weight of the prior violent felony aggravator and rebutting any possible suggestion of Waterhouse's ability to be rehabilitated as mitigation. No error has been shown.

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER THE STATE IMPROPERLY ASSERTED THAT SYMPATHY TOWARD APPELLANT WAS AN IMPROPER CONSIDERATION.

This is a matter that should have been raised on direct appeal which was not done in this case. Having failed to do so Waterhouse is procedurally barred from consideration of this claim. (PCR7:1167) Even if this claim was not barred it is without merit. White v. State, 729 So.2d 909, 916 (Fla. 1999); Medina v. State, 573 So.2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990); Blanco v. Wainwright, 507 So.2d 1377, 1380 (Fla. 1987).

ISSUE IX

WHETHER THE SENTENCING JURY WAS MISLED BY COMMENTS AND INSTRUCTIONS WHICH DILUTED ITS SENSE OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR SENTENCING.

This is a matter that should have been raised on direct appeal which was not done in this case. Having failed to do so Waterhouse is procedurally barred from consideration of this claim. Even if this claim was not barred it is without merit. <u>Johnson v. Singletary</u>, 695 So.2d 263, 267 (Fla. 1996).

ISSUE X

WHETHER THE JURY WAS MISLED AND INCORRECTLY INFORMED ABOUT ITS FUNCTION AT CAPITAL SENTENCING.

This claim is also procedurally barred as a claim that could have been and should have been raised on direct appeal. Rivera v. State, 717 So.2d 477, 488 (Fla. 1998).

ISSUE XI

WHETHER WATERHOUSE'S CLAIM CHALLENGING THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS AND FLORIDA'S STATUTE SETTING FORTH THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES AS FACIALLY VAGUE AND OVERBROAD IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

In order to press a claim that limiting instructions were not given, the issue must be preserved in the trial court and raised on appeal or they are waived. <u>Doyle v. Singletary</u>, 655 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1995). <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 619 So.2d 272 (Fla. 1993). Having failed to do so, these claims are procedurally barred. Even if the claims were preserved and properly raised in a collateral motion, any error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Upon review of the direct appeal, this Court specifically found that the erroneous consideration of the "cold, calculated and premeditated" and "avoiding arrest/elimination of a witness" aggravators, were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the four strong remaining aggravators and the absence of mitigation. Similarly, any ambiguity in the jury instruction on "heinous, atrocious or cruel" aggravator would also be harmless.

In <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 608 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1992), this Court considered a similar claim and held:

During our consideration of this case, the United States Supreme Court decided Espinosa v. Florida, --- U.S. ----, 112 S.Ct. 2926, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992), and held our former instruction on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator insufficient. Although the trial court gave Johnson's jury the instruction struck down in Espinosa, we hold the error to have been harmless. Both the state and the

defense requested an expanded instruction on this aggravator, but the court decided to give the standard instruction. In closing argument the state listed the aggravators, but did not dwell on this one or mention it again. defense explained the aggravator, telling the jury, among other things, that it was meant "to separate those crimes of torture, of excessive wickedness, vileness of the person wanting to inflict not just death, but inflict pain" and that the facts did not support finding it. addition to this argument the court instructed the jury that its recommended sentence "must be based on the facts as you find them from the evidence." During its consideration of the sentence, the court specifically found the insufficient evidence to support aggravator. As stated by the Supreme Court, a jury is "likely to disregard an option simply unsupported by evidence." Sochor v. Florida, --- U.S. ----, 112 S.Ct. 2114, 2122, L.Ed.2d 326 (1992). We see no way that the instruction abrogated in Espinosa could have affected the jury's consideration as to what sentence it would recommend. Therefore, reading that instruction to the jury was, beyond doubt, harmless error.

Johnson v. State, 608 So.2d at 13

Accordingly, just as this Court concluded in <u>Johnson</u>, the instant murder which involved strangulation, a bursting laceration of the rectum and a vicious beating inflicting more than 30 lacerations and 36 bruises upon a victim that was conscious and resisting, would have been found to have been heinous, atrocious or cruel by the jury under any instruction. No relief is warranted.

ISSUE XII

WHETHER WATERHOUSE'S CLAIM THAT HIS SENTENCE RESTS ON AN UNCONSTITUTIONALLY AUTOMATIC AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE.

This claim is procedurally barred since not raised in the trial court or pursued on appeal. Even if this claim was not procedurally barred, this Court and the federal courts have repeatedly rejected this contention. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 637 (Fla. 1995) citing, <u>Lowenfield v. Phelps</u>, 484 U.S. 231, 108 S.Ct. 546, 98 L.Ed.2d 568 (1988) and <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 972 (Fla. 1991).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, the lower court's summary denial of the Rule 3.850 motion should be affirmed.